Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



### International Journal of Mass Spectrometry



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ijms

### Review

# Metallo-thiolomics: Investigation of thiol peptide regulated metal homeostasis in plants and fungi by liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry

### Dirk Wesenberg<sup>a</sup>, Gerd-Joachim Krauss<sup>a</sup>, Dirk Schaumlöffel<sup>b,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Martin-Luther-Universität Halle-Wittenberg, Institut für Biochemie und Biotechnologie, Ökologische und Pflanzen-Biochemie, Kurt-Mothes-Straße 3, 06120 Halle (Saale), Germany

<sup>b</sup> Université de Pau et des Pays de l'Adour/CNRS UMR 5254, Laboratoire de Chimie Analytique Bio-Inorganique et Environnement/IPREM, Hélioparc, 2, av. Pr. Angot, 64053 Pau, France

### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 30 June 2010 Received in revised form 19 October 2010 Accepted 20 October 2010 Available online 30 October 2010

Keywords: Liquid chromatography Mass spectrometry ESI-MS ICP-MS Hyphenation Glutathione Phytochelatin Metallo-thiolome

### ABSTRACT

This review gives an overview and critical evaluation about modern LC-MS techniques for identification and quantification of thiol peptides and their metal complexes in seed plants, algae and fungi. In analogy to other research fields we propose the term metallo-thiolomics for the global study of the entirety of thiol peptides and their metal complexes (metallo-thiolome) aiming at the elucidation of the thiol peptide regulated metal homeostasis. Off-line and on-line approaches based on liquid chromatography (LC) and electrospray tandem mass spectrometry (ESI-MS/MS) were mainly used for identification and quantification of thiol peptide apo-forms. The complementary application of inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS) has demonstrated to be useful for the investigation of native metal-thiol peptide complexes. Furthermore, new quantification strategies via the element signal in ICP-MS will be presented. We critically discuss the impact of these approaches on the progress in plant biochemistry and highlight future trends and developments.

© 2010 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

### Contents

1.	Introduction	47
2.	Extraction of thiol peptides	48
3.	Identification of thiol peptides by reversed phase LC-ESI-MS/MS	48
	3.1. Off-line approaches	48
	3.2. On-line approaches	49
4.	Quantification of thiol peptides by reversed phase LC-ESI-MS/MS	49
5.	The complementary use of ICP-MS and ESI-MS for the study of metal-thiol peptide complexes	49
	5.1. LC-ICP-MS	49
	5.2. Fractionation by SEC	51
	5.3. Parallel RP LC–ICP-MS/ESI-MS/MS coupling	51
6.	Thiol peptide quantification strategies based on element detection	51
	6.1. Thiol peptide quantification via sulfur detection	51
	6.2. Quantification of metal-thiol peptide complexes	51
	6.3. Thiol peptide quantification via metal labels	52
7.	Conclusions—the impact of LC-MS approaches on plant biochemistry	52
8.	Future trends and developments	53
	Acknowledgements	53
	References	53

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel.: +33 559 407760; fax: +33 559 407674. E-mail address: dirk.schaumloeffel@univ-pau.fr (D. Schaumlöffel).

<sup>1387-3806/\$ –</sup> see front matter 0 2010 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.ijms.2010.10.026

### 1. Introduction

Seed plants, algae and fungi have to cope with toxic or surplus of essential metals in the environment derived mainly from mining and other industries [1,2]. Deficiencies of micronutrients seriously disturb normal growth and development – excess of metals, especially at toxic intracellular concentrations, severely affects metabolic reactions and physiological processes. Thus, plants and fungi have developed adaptive stress responses to environmental changes. Tolerance to metals (i) is a particular aspect of cellular homeostasis and (ii) needs a distinct cross-talk between signalization pathways as consequence of interference with the essential metal homeostasis. Extensive biochemical and analytical research is needed in order to elucidate and understand the versatile mechanisms in metal sensing and metal stress response.

Intracellular thiol peptides are of utmost significance for life, containing the major active form of sulfur (thiol or sulfhydryl group: –SH, oxidation state: –2), which itself is one of the most versatile elements in life [3]. The tripeptide glutathione (GSH,  $\gamma$ -Glu-Cys-Gly) is the most prominent constituent of plant cellular redox buffering system [4,5] and serves as intracellular metal binding thiol ligand in seed plants [1,6,7], algae [7,8] and fungi [9,10]. GSH derived canonic phytochelatins (PC) of the general structure ( $\gamma$ -Glu-Cys)<sub>n</sub>Gly (n=2–6) are synthesized under metal stress by phytochelatin synthase in plants and fungi (Fig. 1) [1,11]. Besides canonic PC different isoforms containing altering terminal amino acids (CysPC<sub>n</sub>, desGlyPC<sub>n</sub>, CysPC<sub>n</sub>desGly) or substituted Gly residues were found in seed plants [1] and green algae [8,12].

PC form metal complexes playing an essential role in intracellular cadmium storage and detoxification [7]. Several metals (Cd, Pb, Hg, and Ag) and metalloids (As) are considered as non-nutrient elements, since they have not known function in plant metabolism (except for a Cd-carbonic anhydrase of marine diatoms [13]). Even if cadmium toxicity is still not completely understood it might result from high affinity of sulfhydryl ligands and chemical similarity to zinc [14]. Cd is the preferential inductor for PC synthesis [1], cause regulatory events in sulfate assimilation [1,15] and thus alterations in Cys synthesis as well as thiol peptides.

Elucidation and understanding of thiol peptide regulated metal homeostasis demands a global analysis of all thiol peptides and



**Fig. 1.** (a) Chemical structure of glutathione (GSH); (b) chemical structure of canonic phytochelatins (n=2–6); (c) pathway for the synthesis of canonic phytochelatins from Cys, Glu and Gly via  $\gamma$ -Glu-Cys ( $\gamma$ -EC) and GSH. Involved enzymes are  $\gamma$ -EC synthetase ( $\gamma$ -ECS), glutathione synthetase (GS), and phytochelatin synthase (PCS).

their metal complexes (metallo-thiolome) in plant samples (Fig. 2). A variety of different analytical methods is proposed for the separation, identification, and guantification of thiol peptides in biological samples [16]. Detection can be carried out by electrochemical techniques (polarography, voltammetry, amperometry), UV-vis and fluorescence spectrometry, and mass spectrometry (MS). In many cases thiol peptide detection is preceded by a multiple-step procedure including sampling, thiol peptide extraction, reduction and derivatization, and by chromatographic or electrophoretic separation [16]. Reversed phase liquid chromatography (RP LC) is the most established separation technique combined with thiolspecific spectrophotometric detection. Therefore sulfhydryl groups of GSH and phytochelatins are usually derivatized post-column with Ellman's reagent (5,5'-dithio-bis-(2-nitrobenzoic acid), DTNB) for specific UV-vis detection at  $\lambda = 410 \text{ nm}$  [17,18]. For specific fluorescence detection thiols can also be derivatized pre-column with monobromobimane (mBrB) [19]. The advantage of mBrB towards DTNB is the higher sensitivity and stability of the derivatives [20,21]. But the derivatization efficiency of both reagents decreases with increasing chain-length of the PCs. This should be taken into account when thiol quantification has to be carried out. The decrease of mBrB-derivatization efficiency is much stronger and therefore it is not capable for PC-quantification [22] which limits this method to the quantification of small thiols such as cysteine,  $\gamma$ -glutamylcysteine and GSH. On the other hand the classic method of RP LC and DTNB post-column derivatization becomes difficult if low abundant PCs and isoPCs have to be identified and quantified. In order to overcome these limitations mass spectrometry was proposed for highly sensitive thiol peptide detection, their unequivocal identification and accurate quantification

The coupling of liquid chromatography with mass spectrometry has been already realized more than 30 years ago [23]. Few years later miniaturized chromatographic columns of inner diameters less than 300 µm (capillary LC) were coupled to mass spectrometry with an electrospray ionization (ESI) source [24]. Determination of the exact molecular mass in MS as well as fragmentation of the molecule of interest in a collision cell followed by mass spectrometric analysis of the fragments (tandem mass spectrometry, MS/MS) enable structural identification. Nowadays LC-MS/MS systems using nanoLC and capLC are powerful, indispensable tools for peptide sequencing and quantification in modern proteomics approaches [25]. Also in plant metabolomics studies LC-MS/MS techniques are meanwhile widely used [26] and applied to the determination of thiols such as glutathione (GSH) and oxidized glutathione (GSSG) [27]. As for protein and peptide analysis the combination of reversed phase liquid chromatography with electrospray (ESI)-MS is the predominant technique used for thiol peptide studies.

Phytochelatins form intracellular complexes with metals. Therefore several research groups introduced element mass spectrometry (inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry, ICP-MS) as complementary technique for specific metal detection and guantification in plant metabolism studies. ICP-MS is highly sensitive (down to attogram levels), enables multielement and multi-isotope detection, shows a large dynamic range up to nine orders of magnitude, and the ionization process is practically compoundand matrix-independent, [28]. Nevertheless, some matrix components can lead to interferences requiring either collision/reaction cells or high resolution sector field instruments. ICP-MS allows the specific detection of metals and other heteroelements (e.g. sulfur) in metallo-biomolecules such as metal-thiol peptide complexes [29]. However, for these studies ICP-MS cannot be used as stand-alone technique as it is not able to provide structural information. Therefore, many modern approaches for the investigation of metallo-biomolecules are based on the combination of



Fig. 2. Analytical strategies for the investigation of the metallo-thiolome in seed plants, algae and fungi for molecular characterization of thiol peptide regulated metal homeostasis.

chromatographic separation with element specific (ICP-MS) and molecule specific (ESI-MS) detection [30].

The objective of this review is to give an overview about modern LC-MS techniques for identification and quantification of thiol peptides and their metal complexes in plants, algae and fungi. In analogy to other research fields we propose the term metallothiolomics for the global study of the entirety of thiol peptides and their metal complexes (metallo-thiolome) aiming at the elucidation of the thiol peptide regulated metal homeostasis. Different approaches will be critically compared and evaluated. Their contribution to the scientific progress in plant biochemistry will be discussed.

### 2. Extraction of thiol peptides

In order to investigate thiol peptide regulated metal homeostasis in plants, metal exposure should be in ecological relevant concentration ranges [1]. Studies using up to four orders of magnitude higher than ecological relevant metal concentrations are rather interesting to show a proof of principle or to test instrumental and methodological developments.

Extraction conditions of thiol peptides from plants depend on the objective of the particular study. In order to extract apoforms (metal-free) of thiol peptides from seed plants firstly their cell walls have to be destructed by homogenization in liquid nitrogen and subsequent harsh alkali conditions (pH > 14) and secondly metal-thiol peptide complexes are decomposed under strong acidic conditions (pH 1) [31–34]. The first step can be avoided if the cell walls are fragile as e.g. those of the green algae *Clamydomonas rheinhardtii* [8] and *Stigeoclonium tenue* [12]. Addition of reducing agent such as sodium borohydride [31,32,34], TCEP (tris(2-carboxyethyl) phosphine) [8,35], or DTT (dithiothreitol) [12,33] avoids possible oxidation of sulfhydryl groups.

For extraction intact metal-thiol complexes milder conditions have to be applied. In this case cell walls can be destructed preferentially under liquid nitrogen. Subsequently, cadmium and lead thiol complexes are proposed to be extracted by buffer solutions at pH 7.4–7.8 [36–40]. Thiol peptide complexes of arsenic and mercury are stable over a wider pH range down to pH 2 and often extracted with formic acid [41,42] or water [34]. A further problem is the possible oxidation of thiol groups leading to a decomposition of the metal complex. Wei et al. proposed precautions such as a non-oxidizing (N<sub>2</sub>) preparation environment and sample storage at  $-85 \degree C$  [37].

### 3. Identification of thiol peptides by reversed phase LC-ESI-MS/MS

### 3.1. Off-line approaches

First approaches for identification of metal-free thiol peptides by electrospray mass spectrometry employed a purification of the plant extract by reversed phase LC [43,44]. The elution times of thiol peptide standards were previously determined with DTNB derivatization and UV-vis detection. Then the sample was injected to LC and one or several thiol peptide containing fractions including phytochelatins were collected and concentrated. This off-line approach is widely used until today in many studies [8,12,32]. The advantages are solvent evaporation and exchange avoiding possible incompatibilities with the ESI source, the pre-concentration of the analytes in the sample, and the long analysis time available for MS and MS/MS experiments allowing e.g. in nanoESI-MS the detailed investigation of a fraction during 0.5-2 h [8]. In contrast, in on-line LC-MS/MS the analysis is limited to the elution time of an analyte peak (about 0.5-2 min). A disadvantage is, however, the likewise concentration of matrix components which could suppress the ionization of thiol peptides and render the detection of low-abundant PCs difficult.

From the rich literature on thiol peptide identification by this approach few examples are selected for illustration purposes. Pawlik–Skowronska investigated two ecotypes (metal sensitive and tolerant) of the green alga *S. tenue* under lead exposure [12]. Phytochelatins were identified in ESI-MS according to their molecular mass. While the sensitive form showed canonic phytochelatins  $PC_{2-5}$  the tolerant ecotype induced  $CysPC_{2-5}$  as major thiol peptides. Similar finding showed the recent work of Bräutigam et al. on the cadmium exposed green alga *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* where  $CysPC_{2-5}$  were the main thiol peptides induced, too [8]. In this study all thiols were unambiguously identified by their accurate mass in nanoESI-QTOF MS and additionally by their b and y fragments in MS/MS (Fig. 3). A further example demonstrated that this approach could also successfully be applied to fungi where PC<sub>2</sub> was identified in the aquatic hyphomycete *Heliscus lugdunensis* [32].

### 3.2. On-line approaches

Some of the authors worked with the previously described off-line approach proposed consequently also an on-line LC-ESI-MS coupling for thiol peptide analysis [31,45]. Even few papers described the use of a capillary electrophoresis-ESI-MS coupling [44,46] but this more difficult technique has not been furthermore established in this field. In contrast, the widely accepted reversed phase LC-ESI-MS coupling allowed in recent years the identification of thiols in many plant metabolism studies. Representative examples are the characterization of glutathione and phytochelatins after cadmium exposure in wheat (Triticum aestivum) [47] and in different brown and red seaweed species [45]. In the first study peptide fragmentation in tandem mass spectrometry allowed the confirmation of phytochelatin and also iso-phytochelatin structures while in the second work identification rely only on molecular mass determination. The latter case demonstrates that identification of glutathione and the canonical phytochelatins, which have distinct, well-defined masses, did not necessarily require high mass resolution and tandem MS if the analytes are sufficiently concentrated.

An interesting work combined pre-column mBrB derivatization of sulfhydryl groups and fluorescence detection with identification of the derivatized PCs by LC-MS/MS [48]. The mass spectra showed singly and doubly charged ions and the fragmentations in MS/MS were more complex. Nevertheless, the data demonstrated that each cysteine residue in  $PC_{2-4}$  could be derivatized with mBrB. An advantage of this approach was that derivatization protected the thiol peptides from oxidation and allowed thus their detection at low concentration levels in roots of the hyperaccumulator *Sedum alfredii*. The presence of PC in this plant was queried in previous papers [49,50].

Due to the acidic conditions in reversed phase LC in almost all studies only the apo-forms of thiol peptides were identified by the described off-line and on-line LC-MS approaches. However, in contrast to cadmium and lead the higher stability of mercury–phytochelatin complexes at moderate acidic conditions enables also the analysis of entire Hg-thiol peptides. This was demonstrated by Chen et al. who identified Hg–PC<sub>2-4</sub> complexes by RP LC-ESI MS/MS in *Brassica chinensis* [34].

### 4. Quantification of thiol peptides by reversed phase LC-ESI-MS/MS

While LC-MS has been established for thiol peptide identification, many research groups used the conventional thiol derivatization with Ellman's reagent for their quantification in spite of the known disadvantages such as incomplete derivatization and misleading signals from coumarins which affect the accuracy of the quantification result [31]. Nevertheless, derivatization can also be advantageous because it prevents thiols from oxidation.

To date only few papers describe the use of reversed phase LC-ESI-MS/MS for quantification of thiol peptide apo-forms. One of the reasons is probably that expensive PC standards are needed for calibration. Special care has to be taken to avoid oxidation of the non-derivatized sulfhydryl groups during the analytical process. However, LC-MS/MS allows highly specific and sensitive quantification in the multiple reaction mode (MRM) by monitoring transitions between precursor molecular ions and their principle product ions.

El-Zhori et al. described an LC-MS/MS method for GSH and PC<sub>2-3</sub> quantification in beans (Vicia faba), with special emphasis made on disulfide reduction [33]. The authors achieved for each analyte quantification limits (LOQ) of 0.2 nmol g<sup>-1</sup> plant tissue corresponding to about 33 nM. However, the total run time for one LC analysis was 45 min. Sarry et al. used a coupling technique for relative PC and iso-PC determination, too [51]. Thirteen PCs induced in Arabidopsis thaliana after Cd exposure were chromatographically separated during approximately 25 min. Simmons et al., who focused on oxygen free thiol peptide extraction from the green alga Chlorella vulgaris, achieved LODs of 81 nM for GSH, 440 nM for PC<sub>2</sub> and 120 nM for PC<sub>3</sub> [35]. Run time of HPLC was 30 min. Recently Bräutigam et al. reported for the first time reproducible quantification of six thiol peptides (GSH, CysGSH, PC2, PC3, CysPC2 and CysPC<sub>3</sub>) in crude extracts of the green alga C. reinhardtii at concentrations between 15 and 198 nmol  $g^{-1}$  fresh weight (FW) [52]. The rapid Ultra-Performance Liquid Chromatography (UPLC)-MS/MS method allow baseline separation of all thiol peptides within 7 min.

## 5. The complementary use of ICP-MS and ESI-MS for the study of metal-thiol peptide complexes

### 5.1. LC-ICP-MS

Inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS) can be a valuable complementary technique to electrospray MS in order to study metal complexes with thiol peptides. ICP-MS allows highly sensitive metal specific detection after chromatographic separation. Hence, LC-ICP-MS enables a screening of the metal speciation in a plant extract. A general challenge is the preservation of the native metal–phytochelatin complex. Classic reversed phase LC for thiol peptide separation at low pH is in most of the cases not suitable because metal–phytochelatin complexes decompose under acidic conditions. Exceptions are arsenic–PC and mercury–PC complexes where the As–S and Hg–S bonds show higher stability [34,53]. To date there are only few reports applying RP LC-ICP-MS to separation and metal-specific detection of entire cadmium and lead–phytochelatin complexes, for example cadmium–PC<sub>2-4</sub> complexes could be eluted with an acetate buffer (pH 7.3) [36]. In



**Fig. 3.** (a) Detection of canonic PC and CysPC in the cadmium exposed green alga *C. reinhardtii* by nanoESI-QTOF MS, insert: zoom of the CysPC<sub>5</sub> signal; (b) unambiguous identification of CysPC<sub>5</sub> by the b and y fragments in MS/MS [8].

With kind permission from Springer Science + Business Media: Anal. Bioanal. Chem., "Analytical approach for characterization of cadmium-induced thiol peptides–a case study using *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*", 395, 2009, pages 1744 and 1745, A. Bräutigam, D. Schaumlöffel, G.-J. Krauss, D. Wesenberg, Figs. 5 and 6, Copyright Springer-Verlag 2009.

this case the identification of a  $Cd-PC_2$  complex in *A. thaliana* was possible by comparison of retention time with help of a standard.

The majority of research groups were using the coupling of size exclusion chromatography (SEC) to ICP-MS with an eluent buffered at around pH 7.5 in order to analyse plant extracts for the presence of metal complexes (for example: [37,54,55]). SEC is regarded as a soft separation method not disrupting the integrity of metal-bioligand complexes. However, this statement is not always true and has to be applied with caution. This was demonstrated

by Schaumlöffel et al. for nickel complexes in *Sebertia accuminata* which were decomposed on the SEC column while nickel was adsorbed by the stationary phase [56]. Therefore a mass balance comparing the injected and eluted total mass of the metal is recommended in order to detect possible metal adsorption on the column. Furthermore, the chromatographic resolution of SEC is much inferior to RP LC and do not allow baseline separation of each metal complex. In many studies only one to three not well resolved peaks are observed [39,55,57]. Therefore, the analysis of plant extracts

by SEC-ICP-MS allows only the detection of fractions containing metals which are potentially coordinated by bioligands. A parallel ICP-MS detection of sulfur can give an indication that among these bioligands are thiols [58,59].

### 5.2. Fractionation by SEC

For the reasons pointed out in the previous paragraph size exclusion chromatography is in many studies only used as first purification step in an analytical approach for thiol peptide analysis in plants. In this strategy SEC-ICP-MS is used for screening of plant extracts for metal containing fractions. These fractions are then isolated for subsequent mass spectrometric identification of the thiol peptide apo-forms [57,60]. In a variation of this approach extracts were firstly screened and fractionated by SEC-ICP-MS and then phytochelatin apo-forms were subsequently identified by RP LC-ESI-MS in A. thaliana [39] and in the fungus Boletus edulis [61]. Other research groups were using simply SEC-ICP-MS for metal screening and LC-ESI-MS in parallel e.g. for phytochelatin identification in pea (Pisum sativum) [40]. The week point of a combination of these analytical strategies is that the link between metals and thiol peptides cannot be proved. However, few studies demonstrated even the observation of entire Cd-PC complexes, e.g. in the cadmium hyperaccumulator B. chinensis [38] and in Indian mustard (Brassica juncea) [58], applying ESI-MS/MS after SEC fractionation at pH 7.8. Although in both studies synthetic Cd complexes showed clear signals in MS and MS/MS, the data for complexes isolated from plant samples were rather weak. Another example is the investigation of arsenic-thiol peptide complexes in *B. juncea* [58]. Their higher stability allowed the introduction of a second fractionation step by RP LC after SEC for better purification, but only a weak signal for an arsenic-glutathione complex was observed in ESI-MS. Recently, the same group employed successfully two-dimensional chromatography (SEC-ion pairing RP LC) with ICP-MS for detection of Pb-thiol peptide complexes in roots and shoots of B. juncea and Sesuvium portulacastrum [59]. The simultaneous detection of lead and sulfur in the peak suggested the presence of thiol complexes. Although the complementary identification of the lead complexes by MALDI-TOF-MS failed, an apo-form of CysPC<sub>2</sub> was found in both plants.

#### 5.3. Parallel RP LC-ICP-MS/ESI-MS/MS coupling.

A critical issue for accurate characterization of metal-thiol complexes in plants is their instability during the analytical process including extraction, chromatographic fractionation and lyophilization. Blümlein et al. demonstrated that the off-line approach of SEC fraction collection and freeze drying prior to mass spectrometric analysis negatively affected the stability of arsenic-PC complexes [53]. After this procedure only 2% of the total arsenic was still bound to thiol peptides. Therefore Feldmann and co-workers introduced an on-line approach using reversed-phase LC with a splitting of the chromatographic effluent and its parallel introduction into ICP-MS and ESI-MS/MS [41,42,53]. In contrast to Cd-PC complexes it was found that As-PC complexes were stabilized at low pH of a mobile phase containing 0.1% formic acid and thus they were amenable to RP LC separation. During the on-line RP LC-ICP-MS/ESI-MS measurement 83% of arsenic was bound to thiols. Applying this approach several As-thiol complexes such as As-PC<sub>2-4</sub> were identified in *Holcus lanatus* [41], Pteris cretica [41], Thunbergia alata (Fig. 4) [53,62] and sunflower (Helanthus annuus) [42,63]. Krupp et al. used the same technique for the identification of mercury-phytochelatin complexes in rice (Oryza sativa) and Marrubium vulgare [64]. In contrast to previous works applying 200 µM [34] and 1 mM [65] mercury, respectively, in this new study plants were only exposed to a mercury concentration of 50  $\mu$ M in



**Fig. 4.** Detection of PC<sub>2</sub> and As–PC<sub>3</sub> complex in *T. alata* with a parallel RP LC-ICP-MS/ESI-MS coupling. PC<sub>2</sub> is detected in ICP-MS via the sulfur signal at m/z 32 and in ESI-MS at m/z 540; As–PC<sub>3</sub> at m/z 32 (S) and 75 (As) in ICP-MS and at m/z 844 in ESI-MS [62].

With kind permission from Springer Science + Business Media: Anal. Bioanal Chem. "Can we trust mass spectrometry for determination of arsenic peptides in plants: comparison of LC-ICP-MS and LC-ES-MS/ICP-MS with XANES/EXAFS in analysis of *Thunbergia alata*", 390, 2008, page 1745, K. Bluemlein, A. Raab, A. A. Meharg, J. M. Charnock, J. Feldmann, Fig. 4, Copyright Springer-Verlag 2007.

order to induce Hg-PCs. However, such mercury contamination is probably rare in natural soils.

### 6. Thiol peptide quantification strategies based on element detection

Beside thiol peptide identification in plant extracts their accurate quantification is a prerequisite to establish reliable biochemical models. Classic quantification approaches basing on derivatization were extensively reviewed [66,67]. An interesting alternative can be the quantification via element detection in LC-ICP-MS [29]. Possible elements are the sulfur of the cysteine residues in thiol peptides, metals in their complexes with thiol peptides, and metals artificially introduced by derivatization. An advantage of this approach is that calibration can be carried out with a generic element standard and no expensive synthetic peptides are needed as for LC-ESI-MS quantification. However, the varying organic solvent introduction during gradient elution in LC-ICP-MS has an influence on the sensitivity of the regarded metal (gradient effect) which has to be balanced, e.g. by addition of an internal standard [68]. Especially high organic solvent rates in reversed-phase LC and hence high organic solvent load of the plasma decrease the sensitivity.

### 6.1. Thiol peptide quantification via sulfur detection

Among those elements which can be detected by ICP-MS, sulfur is the common element in all thiol peptides. However, sulfur detection in ICP-MS is not very sensitive due to interferences, high background and low ionization efficiency in the plasma [69]. ICP-MS equipped with a sector field or with a collision/reaction cell were necessary in order to allow the detection PCs in physiological relevant concentrations [62]. Thus, examples for thiol peptides quantification via sulfur detection are rather scarce [53,62].

### 6.2. Quantification of metal-thiol peptide complexes

Not only the quantification of thiol peptides apo-forms but also quantification of their intact metal complexes is mandatory for an elucidation of metal homeostasis in plants. Accurate quantification by LC-ICP-MS requires that the complexes are stables during sample preparation and chromatographic separation. Furthermore a high chromatographic resolution is needed for baseline separation of each individual species to be quantified. LC-ICP-MS enables *a priori* only quantification of the metal in the complexes. Therefore their structures and stoichiometrical composition have to be characterized, e.g. by ESI-MS, in order to conclude from the metal concentration to the concentration of the metal-thiol peptide complex.

Up to now only few papers report on quantification of intact metal-thiol peptide complexes. Sadi et al. compared the relative quantities of Cd-PC<sub>2</sub> in roots and shoots of wild-type and transgenic A. thaliana based on the Cd signal in LC-ICP-MS [36]. Quantification revealed that the cadmium complex was translocated in the shoots and the genetically modified plant showed a higher accumulation rate. Feldmann and coworkers used the previously described LC-ICP-MS/ESI-MS/MS split coupling for absolute quantification of As-thiol peptide complexes is H. annuus [42,63] and T. alata [53,62]. This allowed the study of uptake, translocation, transformation and stability of arsenic thiol peptide complexes. The system was calibrated with a single arsenic compound and the gradient effect has been compensated by an internal standard. Parallel ESI-MS/MS identification of the As-complexes gave information on their stoichiometries and thus allowed their quantification via the As signal in ICP-MS.

### 6.3. Thiol peptide quantification via metal labels

Recently, new biomolecule quantification strategies based on derivatization with metal labels were developed [68]. In this approaches metal-labeled peptides and proteins are quantified with LC-ICP-MS via quantification of the metal attached to the biomolecule by derivatization. The high sensitivity of ICP-MS allows detection limits down to the attomole level depending on the metal used for labeling. However, accurate quantification can only be possible under the condition that (i) derivatization is specific, complete, reproducible, and stable during separation, (ii) the stoichiometry of the metal-labeled biomolecule is known, and (iii) all labeled molecules are baseline-separated in LC.

To date only two papers have been published using this new metal-labeling approach for quantification of phytochelatin apoforms. Bramanti et al. were derivatizing thiol groups in PCs with *p*-hydroxymercurybenzoate leading to stable mercury tagged thiols with Hg–S bonds [70]. Mercury was sensitively and specifically detected by cold vapour generation atomic fluorescence spectrometry and thus Hg-labeled  $PC_{2-6}$  could be quantified after calibration with only one mercury standard.

The first report on phytochelatin quantification by LC-ICP-MS after iron labeling was published by Bräutigam et al. [71]. Thiol groups of cadmium induced PCs in C. reinhardtii were derivatized with ferrocene for iron specific quantification in ICP-MS. The quite complex chromatogram demonstrated that not only PCs were labeled in the raw alga extract. In order to identify the phytochelatin peaks and to balance the gradient effect of the eluent on the iron sensitivity, labeled phytochelatin standards were used for calibration. This, however, negated the advantage of the approach to use only one generic metal standard for calibration. This study allows a direct comparison of the labeling approach with the UPLC-ESI-MS/MS method because both methods were applied for PC quantification in the same Cd-exposed algal sample [52,71]. Only PC<sub>2</sub>, CysPC<sub>2</sub> and CysPC<sub>3</sub> could be quantified by iron labeling and HPLC-ICP-MS with an analysis time of over 90 min. Moreover, only PC<sub>2</sub> quantification was in good agreement with results obtained with the UPLC-MS/MS method. In contrast, the quantities of CysPC<sub>2</sub> and CysPC<sub>3</sub> were much overestimated with the ferrocene approach. The UPLC-MS/MS method showed much simpler sample preparation without derivatization step and was fast, highly molecule-specific and sensitive. It allowed the quantification of six thiol peptides in *C. reinhardtii* in only 7 min which enabled high-throughput analysis for physiological investigations [72]. Furthermore, detection limits of the UPLC-MS/MS were 3 orders of magnitude lower than for detection of ferrocene-derivatized PCs via the iron signal in ICP-MS. The comparison of both approaches demonstrates the advantage of UPLC-MS/MS quantification. In spite of its high potential the metal-labeling approach is still at the developing stage and not yet suitable for routine analysis.

### 7. Conclusions—the impact of LC-MS approaches on plant biochemistry

Regarding the LC-MS based approaches introduced in recent years the question arises how these developments contributed to scientific progress in plant biochemistry notably to the investigation of thiol peptide regulated metal homeostasis. It is obvious, that the well-established classic approaches are limited to the detection and quantification of apo-forms. Moreover, the accuracy of the result can be negatively influenced by misleading signals in UV-vis and fluorescence detection [31] and by the lack of chromatographic resolution. Only mass spectrometry can unambiguously identify and accurately quantify thiol peptides eluting from a chromatography column. MS enabled furthermore the discovery of a number of iso-phytochelatins and their quantification. This led, for example, recently to new insights in metal homeostasis in *C. reinhardtii* [72]. A new biochemical mechanism was suggested where the synthesis of CysPCs prevents the organism to produce canonic PCs with long chain length.

An important issue which can only be solved by mass spectrometry based approaches is the maximum number n of  $\gamma$ -Glu-Cys units in phytochelatins. Most papers up to now cite in their introduction the work of Zenk and co-workers published between 1986 and 1989 [18,73-77]. These are the only papers which claimed to have found a maximum number of n = 7, 8 and 11 based on classical methods such as amino acid analysis and Edman degradation but these experimental data were only presented for PC<sub>2-5</sub>. Longer PCs were assigned to peaks in LC, e.g. the presence of PC7-11 was suggested in Rauvolfia serpentina only by comparing retention times with shorter thiol peptides but the longer PCs were not structurally identified [77]. Other early publications on phytochelatins during the same time period reported solely on n = 2-4 [78–81]. Back in 1986, Steffens et al. used already tandem mass spectrometry for the identification of phytochelatins in tomato cells (Lysopersicon esculentum) [81]. This study reported only on PC<sub>3</sub> and PC<sub>4</sub> but not on longer PCs. Interestingly, all subsequent papers up to now which employed mass spectrometry methods identified mainly PC<sub>2-5</sub>; few studies propose PC<sub>6</sub> but these data were often weak (for example: [8]). The occurrence of longer phytochelatins was never described any more. Moreover, in a recent study intermolecular oxidation products between PCs were identified by MS/MS, e.g. PC<sub>3</sub>-PC<sub>4</sub>, which could pretend the detection of longer PCs in LC by classical methods [8]. In consequence, basing on a plenty of new mass spectrometric data published, the chain length of phytochelatins should be revised. Therefore, we suggest the general structure  $(\gamma$ -Glu-Cys)<sub>n</sub>Gly (n = 2-6) for canonic phytochelatins until new mass spectrometric data will give evidence for longer PC chain lengths.

The global study of the metallo-thiolome demands not only the characterization of the thiol peptide apo-forms but also their native metal complexes. The latter point is still a challenge for analytical chemistry and has only been achieved in few studies including LC-ICP-MS approaches. In many cases the structure and stability of intracellular metal-thiol peptide complexes are unknown. Therefore the description of biochemical mechanisms of metal homeostasis including native metal-thiol peptide complexes is still an unsolved problem requiring novel analytical approaches for metallo-thiolomics.

#### 8. Future trends and developments

The future needs for metallo-thiolomics show which analyticchemical developments will be most important in order to spur on scientific progress in the elucidation of metal homeostasis in seed plants, algae and fungi. Two main areas for future trends can be identified which are interrelated: (i) accurate identification and quantification of metal-thiol peptide complexes in their native forms and in their natural environment, and (ii) description of the metallo-thiolome with high spatial resolution, ideally in individual biological cells. These aims demand for example new separation methods for metal-complexes. New approaches could be based e.g. on hydrophilic interaction liquid chromatography (HILIC) which has already been applied to metabolomic studies [82]. Furthermore, miniaturized couplings are required to handle small sample volumes, e.g. a recently developed nanoHPLC-ICP-MS system which is able to analyse only 10 nL [83]. These systems have to be combined with methods for single cell sampling [84]. However, in future mass spectrometric based approaches will not be the only ones for metallo-thiolomics studies. Synchrotron-based micro-Xray fluorescence (µSXRF), which uses a X-ray beam with high flux produced by third generation synchrotron and focused down to the submicrometer scale ( $\sim 0.9 \,\mu$ m), allows chemical imaging at the cellular level with detection limit in the  $\mu g L^{-1}$  range [85]. Micro-X-ray absorption techniques (micro-extended X-ray absorption fine structure, *µ*EXAFS, and micro-X-ray absorption near edge structure,  $\mu$ XANES) have the potential to identify main ligands (e.g. sulfhydryl groups) of metals at the cellular level [86]. Highest spatial resolution down to 30-50 nm can be achieved with nano-secondary ion mass spectrometry (nano-SIMS) for imaging of elements in cells [87]. Finally, it can be expected that a combination of these modern analytical techniques will approach further the aim of elucidation of the metallo-thiolome and the thiol peptide regulated metal homeostasis.

#### Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the "Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung" and the "Ministère des affaires étrangères et européennes" within the bilateral (German-French) DAAD-EGIDE program PROCOPE (project: "Charakterisierung schwermetallbildender Thiolpeptide in niederen Pflanzen/Caractérisation des peptides thiols liant des métaux lourd dans les plantes").

#### References

- W.H.O. Ernst, G.-J. Krauss, J.A.C. Verkleij, D. Wesenberg, Plant Cell Environ. 31 (2008) 123–143.
- [2] G.-J. Krauss, M. Solé, G. Krauss, D. Schlosser, D. Wesenberg, F. Bärlocher, FEMS Microbiol. Rev. (2010), in revision.
- [3] C. Jacob, I. Knight, P.G. Winyard, Biol. Chem. 387 (2006) 1385-1397.
- [4] A.J. Meyer, R. Hell, Photosynth. Res. 86 (2005) 435–457.
- [5] C.H. Foyer, G. Noctor, Antioxid. Redox Signal. 11 (2009) 861-905.
- [6] I. Bruns, K. Sutter, S. Menge, D. Neumann, G.-J. Krauss, J. Plant Physiol. 158 (2001) 79–89.
- [7] D. Mendoza-Cózatl, H. Loza-Tavera, A. Hernández-Navarro, R. Moreno-Sánchez, FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 29 (2005) 653–671.
- [8] A. Bräutigam, D. Schaumlöffel, G.-J. Krauss, D. Wesenberg, Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 395 (2009) 1737–1747.
- [9] Z.-S. Li, Y.-P. Lu, R.-G. Zhen, M. Szczypka, Dennis J. Thiele, Philip A. Rea, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 94 (1997) 42–47.
- 10] S. Prévéral, G. Gayet, C. Moldes, J. Hoffmann, S. Mounicou, A. Gruet, F. Reynaud, R. Lobinski, J.-M. Verbavatz, A. Vavasseur, C. Forestier, J. Biol. Chem. 284 (2009) 4936–4943.

- [11] S. Clemens, D. Persoh, Plant Sci. 177 (2009) 266–271.
- [12] B. Pawlik-Skowronska, Aquat. Toxicol. 62 (2003) 155–163.
- [13] T.W. Lane, M.A. Saito, G.N. George, I.J. Pickering, R.C. Prince, F.M.M. Morel, Nature 435 (2005) 42.
- [14] G. DalCorso, S. Farinati, S. Maistri, A. Furini, J. Integr. Plant Biol. 50 (2008) 1268-1280.
- [15] M. Rother, G.J. Krauss, G. Grass, D. Wesenberg, Plant Cell Environ. 29 (2006) 1801–1811.
- [16] S.K. Kawakami, M. Gledhill, E.P. Achterberg, Trends Anal. Chem. 25 (2006) 133–142.
- [17] G.L. Ellman, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 82 (1959) 70–77.
- [18] E. Grill, W. Gekeler, E.L. Winnacker, H.H. Zenk, FEBS Lett. 205 (1986) 47-50.
- [19] G.L. Newton, R.C. Fahey, Methods Enzymol. 251 (1995) 148–166.
- [20] B. Ahner, N. Price, F. Morel, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 91 (1994) 8433-8436.
- [21] R.C. Fahey, G.L. Newton, Methods Enzymol. 143 (1987) 85–96.
- [22] F.E.C. Sneller, L.M.V. Heerwaarden, P.L.M. Koevoets, R. Vooijs, H. Schat, J.A.C. Verkleij, J. Agric. Food Chem. 48 (2000) 4014-4019.
- [23] W.H. McFadden, H.L. Schwartz, S. Evans, J. Chromatogr. 122 (1976) 389–396.
  [24] K.B. Tomer, M.A. Moseley, L.J. Deterding, C.E. Parker, Mass Spectrom. Rev. 13 (1994) 431–457.
- [25] G. Chen, B.N. Pramanik, Expert Rev. Proteom. 5 (2008) 435-444.
- [26] J.W. Allwood, R. Goodacre, Phytochem. Anal. 21 (2010) 33–47.
- [27] Y. Iwasaki, Y. Saito, Y. Nakano, K. Mochizuki, O. Sakata, R. Ito, K. Saito, H. Nakazawa, J. Chromatogr. B 877 (2009) 3309–3317.
- [28] A. Montaser, Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectrometry, Wiley, NY, 1998.
  [29] R. Lobinski, D. Schaumlöffel, J. Szpunar, Mass Spectrom. Rev. 25 (2006)
- 255–289. [30] M. Wind, W.D. Lehmann, J. Anal. Atom. Spectrom. 19 (2004) 20–25.
- [31] M. Berlich, S. Menge, I. Bruns, J. Schmidt, B. Schneider, G.-J. Krauss, Analyst 127 (2002) 333–336.
- [32] P. Jaeckel, G. Krauss, S. Menge, A. Schierhorn, P. Rücknagel, G.-J. Krauss, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 333 (2005) 150–155.
- [33] M.H. El-Zohri, R. Cabala, H. Frank, Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 382 (2005) 1871–1876.
- [34] L. Chen, L. Yanga, O. Wang, Metallomics 1 (2009) 101-106.
- [35] D.B. Simmons, A.R. Hayward, T.C. Hutchinson, R.J. Emery, Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 395 (2009) 809-817.
- [36] B.B.M. Sadi, A.P. Vonderheide, J.M. Gong, J.I. Schroeder, J.R. Shann, J.A. Caruso, J. Chromatogr. B 861 (2008) 123-129.
- [37] Z. Wei, J.W. Wong, D. Chen, Microchem. J. 74 (2003) 207–213.
- [38] L.Q. Chen, Y.F. Guo, L.M. Yang, Q.Q. Wang, J. Anal. Atom. Spectrom. 22 (2007) 1403–1408.
- [39] K. Polec-Pawlak, R. Ruzik, K. Abramski, M. Ciurzynska, H. Gawronska, Anal. Chim. Acta 540 (2005) 61–70.
- [40] D. Barałkiewicz, M. Kózka, A. Piechalak, B. Tomaszewska, P. Sobczak, Talanta 79 (2009) 493–498.
- [41] A. Raab, J. Feldmann, A.A. Meharg, Plant Physiol 134 (2004) 1113-1122.
- [42] A. Raab, K. Ferreira, A.A. Meharg, J. Feldmann, J. Exp. Bot. 58 (2007) 1333–1338.
  [43] V. Vacchina, H. Chassaigne, M. Oven, M.H. Zenk, R. Lobinski, Analyst 124 (1999)
- 1425-1430. [44] H. Chassaigne, V. Vacchina, T.M. Kutchan, M.H. Zenk, Phytochem 56 (2001)
- 657–668.
- [45] B. Pawlik-Skowronska, J. Pirszel, M.T. Brown, Aquat. Toxicol. 83 (2007) 190–199.
- [46] S. Mounicou, V. Vacchina, J. Szpunar, M. Potin-Gautier, R. Lobinski, Analyst 126 (2001) 624–632.
- [47] A. Ranieri, A. Castagna, F. Scebba, M. Careri, I. Zagnoni, G. Predieri, M. Pagliari, L.S. Di Toppi, Plant Physiol. Biochem. 43 (2005) 45–54.
- [48] Z. Zhang, X. Gao, B. Qiu, Phytochem 69 (2008) 911-918.
- [49] Q. Sun, Z.H. Ye, X.R. Wang, M.H. Wong, Phytochem 66 (2005) 2549-2556.
- [50] Q. Sun, Z.H. Ye, X.R. Wang, M.H. Wong, J. Plant Physiol. 164 (2007) 1489-1498.
- [51] J.-E. Sarry, L. Kuhn, C. Ducruix, A. Lafaye, C. Junot, V. Hugouvieux, A. Jourdain, O. Bastien, J.B. Fievet, D. Vailhen, B. Amekraz, C. Moulin, E. Ezan, J. Garin, J. Bourguignon, Proteomics 6 (2006) 2180–2198.
- [52] A. Bräutigam, D. Wesenberg, H. Preud'homme, D. Schaumlöffel, Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 398 (2010) 877–883.
- [53] K. Bluemlein, A. Raab, J. Feldmann, Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 393 (2009) 357–366.
- [54] B.A. Lesniewska, J. Messerschmidt, N. Jakubowski, A. Hulanicki, Sci. Total Environ. 322 (2004) 95–108.
- [55] J.A. Landero Figueroa, S. Afton, K. Wrobel, K. Wrobel, J.A. Caruso, J. Anal. Atom. Spectrom. 22 (2007) 897–904.
- [56] D. Schaumlöffel, L. Ouerdane, B. Bouyssiere, R. Lobinski, J. Anal. Atom. Spectrom. 18 (2003) 120–127.
- [57] I. Leopold, D. Günther, J. Schmidt, D. Neumann, Phytochem 50 (1999) 1323–1328.
- [58] A. Pereira Navaza, M. Montes-Bayón, D.L. LeDuc, N. Terry, A. Sanz-Medel, J. Mass Spectrom. 41 (2006) 323–331.
- [59] H. Zaier, A. Mudarra, D. Kutscher, M.R. Fernández de la Campa, C. Abdelly, A. Sanz-Medel, Anal. Chim. Acta 671 (2010) 48–54.
- [60] M. Montes-Bayon, J. Meija, D.L. LCDuc, N. Terry, J.A. Caruso, A. Sanz-Medel, J. Anal. Atom. Spectrom. 19 (2004) 153–158.
- [61] C. Collin-Hansen, S.A. Pedersen, R.A. Andersen, E. Steinnes, Mycologia 99 (2007) 161–174.
- [62] K. Bluemlein, A. Raab, A.A. Meharg, J.M. Charnock, J. Feldmann, Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 390 (2008) 1739–1751.
- [63] A. Raab, H. Schat, A.A. Meharg, J. Feldmann, New Phytol. 168 (2005) 551–558.

- [64] E.M. Krupp, A. Mestrot, J. Wielgus, A.A. Meharg, J. Feldmann, Chem. Commun. (2009) 4257–4259.
- [65] S. Iglesia-Turino, A. Febrero, O. Jauregui, C. Caldelas, J.L. Araus, J. Bort, Plant Physiol. 142 (2006) 742–749.
- [66] K. Shimada, K. Mitamura, J. Chromatogr. B 659 (1994) 227-241.
- [67] Y. Zu, J. Chromatogr. B 877 (2009) 3358-3365.
- [68] A. Tholey, D. Schaumlöffel, Trends Anal. Chem. 29 (2010) 399–408.
- [69] C. Rappel, D. Schaumlöffel, Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 390 (2008) 605–615.
- [70] E. Bramanti, D. Toncelli, E. Morelli, L. Lampugnani, R. Zamboni, K.E. Miller, J.
- Zemetra, A. D'Ulivo, J. Chromatogr. A 1133 (2006) 195–203. [71] A. Bräutigam, S. Bomke, T. Pfeifer, U. Karst, G.-J. Krauss, D. Wesenberg, Metallomics 2 (2010) 565–570.
- [72] A. Bräutigam, D. Schaumlöffel, H. Preud'homme, I. Thondorf, D. Wesenberg, Plant Physiol. (submitted for publication).
- [73] E. Grill, E.L. Winnacker, M.H. Zenk, Science 230 (1986) 674–676.
- [74] E. Grill, E.L. Winnacker, M.H. Zenk, FEBS Lett. 197 (1986) 115–120.
- [75] E. Grill, E.-L. Winnacker, M.H. Zenk, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 84 (1987) 439-443.

- [76] W. Gekeler, E. Grill, E.L. Winnacker, M.H. Zenk, Arch. Microbiol. 150 (1988) 197–202.
- [77] W. Gekeler, E. Grill, E.L. Winnacker, M.H. Zenk, Z. Naturforsch. C 44 (1989) 361–369.
- [78] N. Kondo, K. Imai, Isobe, T. Minoru, A. Goto, C. Murasugi, Y. Wada-Nakagawa, Hayashi, Tetrahedron Lett. 25 (1984) 3869–3872.
- [79] N. Kondo, I.M.K. Imai, T. Goto, Agric. Biol. Chem. 49 (1985) 71-83.
- [80] P.J. Jackson, C.J. Unkefer, J.A. Doolen, K. Watt, N.J. Robinson, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 84 (1987) 6619–6623.
- [81] J. Steffens, D. Hunt, B. Williams, J. Biol. Chem. 261 (1986) 13879-13882.
- [82] S. Cubbon, C. Antonio, J. Wilson, J. Thomas-Oates, Mass Spectrom. Rev. (in press).
  [83] P. Giusti, R. Lobinski, J. Szpunar, D. Schaumlöffel, Anal. Chem. 78 (2006)
- 965–971. [84] S. Moco, B. Schneider, J. Vervoort, J. Proteome Res. 8 (2009) 1694–1703.
- [85] C.J. Fahrni, Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 11 (2007) 121–127.
- [86] M. Isaure, B. Fayard, G. Sarret, S. Pairis, J. Bourguignon, Spectrochim. Acta B 61 (2006) 1242–1252.
- [87] S.G. Boxer, M.L. Kraft, P.K. Weber, Annu. Rev. Biophys. 38 (2009) 53-74.